
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. __________________

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit corporation,
ROBIN BOLDUC,

BRUCE GOGUEN, and
BRADY GOGUEN, by and through his parents and next friends, ROBIN BOLDUC and

BRUCE GOGUEN,

Plaintiffs,

v.

CITY AND COUNTY OF BROOMFIELD, a Colorado municipal corporation, and
BROOMFIELD URBAN RENEWAL AUTHORITY, a Colorado municipal corporation,

Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                      
______________________________________________________________________________

COMPLAINT
______________________________________________________________________________
                                                                                                                                                 

Plaintiffs, Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, Robin Bolduc and Bruce Goguen, by and

through their attorneys, Kevin W. Williams and Carrie Ann Lucas of the Colorado Cross-

Disability Coalition Legal Program, hereby submit this Complaint for violations of the

Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq., Section 504 of the

Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.,  and the Colorado Anti-discrimination Act

(“CADA”), Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-601 et seq.

INTRODUCTION

1. The ADA was enacted in 1990 “to provide a clear and comprehensive national

mandate for the elimination of discrimination against individuals with disabilities.”  42 U.S.C. §

12101(b)(1).
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2. Nineteen years after the passage of the ADA, the City and County of Broomfield

(“Broomfield”), through the Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority (“BURA”), the owner of the

Broomfield Events Center (“Center”), discriminates against individuals with disabilities in

violation of the ADA by charging extra for close accessible parking and dropping off individuals

with disabilities near the building entrance and failing to ensure that  assistive listening devices

are available upon request by patrons with hearing impairments.

3. The individual plaintiffs in this case are a typical American family:  They like to

go to sporting events and other events like “High School Musical on Ice,” “World Famous

Lipizzaner Stallions” and more, that have been held at the Center.  In this family, the father,

Bruce Goguen, uses a wheelchair, and the son, Brady Goguen, has a significant hearing

impairment. 

4. Plaintiffs Robin Bolduc, Bruce Goguen, and Brady Goguen are members of

Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”), a disability rights advocacy organization, that

has many members who use wheelchairs and who have hearing impairments.

5. Broomfield and BURA, themselves or through licenses and contracts with other

entities that have operated the Center, have discriminated against the individual plaintiffs and

CCDC members in the following ways:

a. designing and constructing parking for people with disabilities that is too far

away from the Center;

b. maintaining policies that require people with disabilities to park too far away

from the Center or pay a higher “VIP” rate for parking close to the building; 
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c. failing to provide an accessible passenger loading zone that complies with the

ADA and charging individuals with disabilities to be dropped off at the facility’s

entrance; 

d. failing to have assistive listening devices available for patrons who have hearing

impairments; 

e. failing to make assistive listening devices available to patrons who have hearing

impairments when requested; and 

f. failing to ensure that Center staff are trained adequately to address the access

issues described above.

6. CCDC contacted the Broomfield City Attorneys’ office and the most recent

operator of the Center, Broomfield Sports & Entertainment LLC (“BSE”) about these concerns

and asked Broomfield and BSE to resolve them.  BSE responded, “We believe that our

operations comply with the ADA.”   This letter was copied the Broomfield City Attorney’s

office, but the Broomfield City attorneys’ office never responded to CCDC’s letter.  On

information and belief, no changes have been made at the Center with respect to policies for

parking for patrons with disabilities or for patrons with hearing impairments seeking assistive

listening devices. 

JURISDICTION

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343 and pursuant to its pendent jurisdiction over claims brought under the laws of

the State of Colorado.

3

Case 1:09-cv-01664-ZLW     Document 1      Filed 07/14/2009     USDC Colorado     Page 3 of 17



8. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES

9. Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their non-disabled allies.

10. Robin Bolduc is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado

residing at 1546 Bradley Drive, Boulder, Colorado 80303.  Ms. Bolduc is the mother of Brady

Goguen and wife of Bruce Goguen and, as such, has a relationship and association with

individuals with disabilities.  Ms. Bolduc is a CCDC member.

11. Bruce Goguen is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado

residing at 1546 Bradley Drive, Boulder, Colorado 80303.  Mr. Goguen is the father of Brady

Goguen and the husband of Robin Bolduc.  Mr. Goguen has Multiple Sclerosis, resulting in

physical impairments which substantially limit several major life activities, including walking

and breathing.  Mr. Goguen depends on a ventilator to breathe.  Mr. Goguen is a CCDC member.

12. Brady Goguen is and was at all times material hereto a resident of Colorado

residing at 1546 Bradley Drive, Boulder, Colorado 80303.   Brady Goguen is a minor and his

parents are Robin Bolduc and Bruce Goguen.  Brady Goguen has physical and cognitive

impairments that substantially limit several major life activities, including hearing.  Brady

Goguen uses hearing aids and requires the use of assistive listening systems in many large

venues, including the Center, to have effective communication.

13. Broomfield is a municipal corporation pursuant to Colo. Rev. Stat. Const. Art. 10

§ 20.  Broomfield, through BURA, owns, operates and/or leases the Center and its parking
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facilities, and, on information and belief, has an operating agreement with BSE to operate the

Center and its parking facilities. 

14. BURA is an urban renewal authority, incorporated by Broomfield, pursuant to

Colo. Rev. Stat. § 35-21-101 et seq.  BURA owns, operates and/or leases the Center and its

parking facilities, and, on information and belief, has an operating agreement with BSE to

operate the Center and its parking facilities. 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

15. The Center was designed and constructed during 2005 and 2006 and opened to

the public in 2006.

16. BURA has contracted with other entities, most recently BSE, to operate the

Center.

17. On information and belief, BURA is in the process of negotiating a contract with

a new entity who will operate the Center.

18. According to the Center’s web site www.broomfieldeventcenter.com, the Center

is a sports arena and is the home of the Rocky Mountain Rage and Colorado 14ers professional

sports teams.  The Center is also a concert venue and has been the venue for shows such as

“High School Musical on Ice,” and “World Famous Lipizzaner Stallions,” concerts and can be

rented for other events.  The Center is open to the public who purchase tickets for the Center’s

event.

19. For sporting events, the Center has a seating capacity of approximately 6,000

seats, and for other events, like concerts, the Center has a seating capacity of approximately
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7,500 seats.

20. Parking is available at the Center in surface level parking lots immediately

adjacent to the building and in a parking structure that is much farther away.

21. For individuals who use wheelchairs to park in the parking structure and access

the building, they must exit their vehicles, cross several streets and travel approximately three-

quarters of a mile to a mile to get to the Center.

22. The shortest distance from the garage to the Center requires going down stairs,

which are not accessible to individuals who use wheelchairs, but the stairs are usable by non-

disabled patrons to get to the Center.  Individuals who use wheelchairs who have parked in the

garage have had to exit their vehicles, roll through the parking garage against incoming traffic in

the direction heading away from the Center, exit the garage at the vehicle entrance, then cross (at

times since the Center has been open to the public) construction zones and several streets to get

to the Center.

23. Robin Bolduc, Bruce Goguen and Brady Goguen (hereinafter “the Family”) have

attended numerous events at the Center since it opened and had a birthday party at the Center for

Brady Goguen and for their grandson.  Ms. Bolduc’s and Mr. Goguen’s daughter and Ms.

Bolduc’s mother have attended events at the Center with members of the Family as well. 

24. When the Family attends events at the Center, Ms. Bolduc drives Bruce Goguen

and Brady in a van that is adapted to transport an individual using a wheelchair.  The van has a

side-loading wheelchair ramp and requires an access aisle adjacent to the van or an accessible

loading zone for Mr. Goguen to enter and exit the van in his wheelchair.
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25. Mr. Goguen’s Multiple Sclerosis makes him highly susceptible to complications

due to cold and inclement weather.  Because he uses a wheelchair and has respiratory

difficulties, traversing in his wheelchair through inclement weather, snow and ice is very

difficult.

26. The Family has experienced numerous difficulties accessing parking at the

Center.

27. On information and belief, the parking structure has approximately 1,500 parking

spaces, 21 of which are designated as accessible parking spaces for patrons with disabilities. 

The cost to park in the parking structure is $3.00-$3.50 per ticket paid in advance with the

purchase of each ticket.

28. On information and belief, the surface level parking lots adjacent to the building

have approximately 400 parking spaces, 19 of which are designated as accessible.  The surface

level parking spaces are “V.I.P.” spaces and are available by pre-paid permit to Center patrons

who have box seats or suites and, in some cases, are available for $10.00-$15.00 at some events. 

None of these spaces is available with the ticket price paid in advance.

29. The Family has attended the following events at the Center:

a. “Cirque De Soliel” on December 13, 2007; 

b. “High School Musical on Ice” on December 6, 2008; 

c. Brady Goguen’s birthday party at a basketball game on December 15, 2008; 

d. their grandson’s birthday party December of 2008 (Bruce Goguen was unable to

attend, but Brady Goguen and Robin Bolduc attended);  
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e. the “World Famous Lipizzaner Stallions” on April 25, 2009; and

f. they attended several basketball and ice hockey games as Brady Goguen is a

member of the “Kid’s Club,” a membership benefit for children under twelve

years of age provided for sporting events at the Center.  

30. At each of the events the Family has attended at the Center, Ms. Bolduc wanted to

park close to the building where the Family could exit the vehicle together and enter the

building.  Ms. Bolduc was informed that the designated accessible parking spaces adjacent to the

building were “V.I.P.” spaces and she would not be able to park there without incurring the

higher parking fee.

31. On one occasion, Ms. Bolduc drove to the surface level lots.  Although she had

concerns about leaving Mr. Goguen at the Center entrance and going to park elsewhere, Ms.

Bolduc asked the parking attendant if she could drop Mr. Goguen off at the front entrance of the

building and go park.  The parking attendant said Ms. Bolduc would have to pay a $15.00

parking fee just to enter the surface level lot.  The Family paid the higher rate and parked in the

surface level lot.

32. On another occasion, Ms. Bolduc paid the attendant $15.00 to park in the V.I.P.

lot, but when the Family drove into the lot, there were no accessible parking spaces available. 

Ms. Bolduc had to let the van ramp down in the parking lane so Mr. Goguen could exit the

vehicle and then had to park the van on a dirt hill which was the only available parking.  Other

drivers honked horns while Mr. Goguen exited his vehicle, but there was no where else Mr.

Goguen could exit the van.
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33. On other occasions, there have not been accessible spaces available for the

Family to use.  On these occasions, Ms. Bolduc has done what she could to drop off Mr. Goguen

and find some place to park.  Because Mr. Goguen uses a portable ventilator to breathe, it is

unsafe to drop him off and leave him while Ms. Bolduc goes to park the car and comes back.

34. The Family reserved a birthday suite for a Colorado 14ers game on December 15,

2008.   Ms. Bolduc arranged for the party with BSE employee, Brittany Thompson.  On or about

December 4, 2008, Ms. Bolduc asked Ms. Thompson if the Center provided assistive listening

devices.  Ms. Thompson responded that the Center did not provide assistive listening devices. 

Ms. Thompson said the Center did not have assistive listening devices and offered to provide a

sign language interpreter.  Brady Goguen has a hearing impairment that is benefitted by assistive

listening devices.  He does not communicate using or understand sign language.

35. On at least two other occasions, including for the “High School Musical on Ice”

event on December 6, 2008 and “Royal Lipizzaner Stallions” on April 25, 2009, Ms. Bolduc

requested from the customer relations person at the front door if assistive listening devices were

available.  The customer service employee said no assistive listening devices were available.

36. At times material to the incidents described in this Complaint, the Center either

has not had assistive listening devices available or has not ensured its staff had appropriate

training to make such devices available.

37. Ms. Bolduc, Mr. Goguen and Brady Goguen have been damaged by Broomfield’s

and BURA’s failures to comply with the ADA and CADA.

38. Ms. Bolduc, Mr. Goguen and Brady Goguen would like to attend events at the
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Center in the future and will continue to be harmed by Broomfield’s and BURA’s violations of

the ADA unless those violations are remedied.

39. Plaintiff CCDC has members with disabilities who attend events at the Center.

40. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or

accommodations provided by public venues and event centers like the Center.

41. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Broomfield’s and BURA’s

violations of the laws cited herein.

42. Broomfield’s and BURA’s actions have caused and continue to cause distinct,

palpable, and perceptible injury to CCDC.  

43. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to communicating with defendants in an attempt to

secure non-discriminatory conditions at the Center.

44. CCDC has devoted resources, which could have been devoted to its other

outreach, advocacy, and educational efforts, to counseling members and others who have been

injured by Broomfield’s and BURA’s discrimination.  

45. As set forth in this Complaint, Broomfield’s and BURA’s discrimination have
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been and continue to be a barrier to the full participation of persons with disabilities and,

therefore, frustrates CCDC’s ability to achieve full inclusion for persons with disabilities. 

46. Broomfield’s and BURA’s actions deter some persons with disabilities from

attending events at the Center.

47. Broomfield’s and BURA’s discrimination has required and continues to require

CCDC to make a greater effort -- and to allocate significant resources -- to educate the public

that such discrimination is wrong and otherwise to counteract the adverse impact of such

discrimination.   This perceptibly impairs CCDC’s counseling, advocacy, educational, and

training missions.

48. CCDC also has devoted and continues to devote resources -- including but not

limited to those devoted to the present lawsuit -- to identifying and counteracting the sources of

discrimination in the community, including that of Broomfield and BURA.

49. CCDC’s injuries -- including, without limitation, those described herein -- are

traceable to Broomfield’s and BURA’s discriminatory conduct alleged in this Complaint and

will be redressed by the relief requested in it.

50. CCDC’s members and their spouses, friends, relatives, and associates have been

injured and will continue to be injured by Broomfield’s and BURA’s discrimination. 

51. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of defendants, and the integration

of persons with disabilities into all aspects of community life are at the core of CCDC’s

organizational purpose.

52. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required
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either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.

53. Broomfield and BURA have acted intentionally or with reckless or callous

indifference to the federally protected rights of others in perpetuating the discrimination alleged

in this Complaint.

54. Broomfield and BURA maintain and/or engage in policies, practices and

procedures that violate the ADA.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Against City and County of Broomfield and Broomfield Urban Renewal Authority:
Violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act)

55. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth above as

if fully set forth herein.

56. Title II of the ADA prohibits public entities from discriminating on the basis of

disability.  42 U.S.C. § 12131 et seq.; 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(a).

57. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act prohibits recipients of federal financial

assistance from discriminating against qualified individuals with disabilities in the programs and

services they provide.  29 U.S.C. § 794(a).

58. Broomfield is a “public entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12131(1).

59. BURA is a “public entity.”  42 U.S.C. § 12131(1).

60. Broomfield, through BURA, owns the Center.

61. On information and belief, Broomfield receives federal financial assistance

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.

62. On information and belief, BURA receives federal financial assistance pursuant
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to 29 U.S.C. § 794 et seq.

63. The Center is a program or activity provided by Broomfield and BURA pursuant

to 29 U.S.C. § 794(a) and 42 U.S.C. § 12132.

64. Unlawful discrimination under Title II of the ADA includes failing to design and

construct facilities that are readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities,

including individuals who use wheelchairs.  28 C.F.R. § 35.151(a).

65. When designing and constructing buildings and facilities, public entities must

comply with the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards (UFAS) (Appendix A to 41 C.F.R.

part 101-19.6) or with the Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines for

Buildings and Facilities (ADAAG) (Appendix A to 28 C.F.R. part 36).  28 C.F.R. § 35.151(c).

66. Under the UFAS or the ADAAG, “accessible parking spaces serving a particular

building shall be located on the shortest accessible route of travel from adjacent parking to an

accessible entrance.”  41 C.F.R., pt. 101-19.6, app. A § 4.6.2; 28 C.F.R., pt. 36, app. A § 4.6.2.

67. Broomfield and BURA have discriminated against plaintiffs by failing to design,

construct and provide close accessible parking for patrons with disabilities.

68. Broomfield and BURA were required to provide an ADA-compliant accessible

passenger loading zone at the Center.  41 C.F.R., pt. 101-19.6, app. A § 4.6.5; 28 C.F.R., pt. 36,

app. A § 4.6.6.

69. Broomfield and BURA failed to provide a compliant passenger loading zone.

70. A public entity may not place a surcharge on providing legally required access. 

28 C.F.R. § 35.130(f).
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71. Broomfield and BURA through operating agreements with entities operating the

Center have unlawfully discriminated against plaintiffs by charging a higher rate for accessible

parking spaces that are close to the building and charging individuals with disabilities to drop off

passengers with disabilities at the Center’s entrance.

72. Broomfield and BURA are required to provide auxiliary aids and services to its

patrons with disabilities.  28 C.F.R. § 35.160(b)(1).  Such auxiliary aids and services include

assistive listening devices and systems.  28 C.F.R. § 35.104.

73. Broomfield and BURA failed to provide plaintiffs with required auxiliary aids

and services.

74. Broomfield’s and BURA’s violations of the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act have

harmed plaintiffs and continue to harm plaintiffs.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(Against Broomfield and BURA: Violation of the Colorado Anti-discrimination Act
(“CADA”))

75. Under the CADA, 

It is a discriminatory practice and unlawful for a person, directly or indirectly, to refuse,
withhold from, or deny to an individual or a group, because of disability . . ., the full and
equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or
accommodations of a place of public accommodation[.]

76. Any person who violates section 601 above “shall forfeit and pay a sum of not

less than fifty dollars nor more than five hundred dollars to the person aggrieved thereby . . . .”

77. As the owners and operators of the Center, defendants are liable for the failures to

comply with the CADA.
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78. The CADA is to be construed consistently with the ADA and other federal civil

rights statutes.  3 Colo. Code. Reg. 708.60.1(c).

79. Defendants have violated the CADA by denying individuals with disabilities the

benefits of the Complex through, without limitation, failing to provide sufficient close accessible

parking without an increased fee, failing to provide assistive listening devices, and failing to

properly train employees to ensure the purposes of the ADA and CADA are carried out.

80. Defendants’ violations of the CADA have harmed plaintiffs who have patronized

or who have attempted to patronize the Complex and will continue to harm plaintiffs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully pray:

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction.

2. That this Court issue an injunction ordering defendants to comply with the ADA,

the Rehabilitation Act, and the CADA by providing designated accessible parking close to the

Center for patrons with disabilities at the lowest price for parking at the Center, providing

assistive listening devices to individuals with hearing impairments upon request, providing

training to their employees on these issues so compliance with these statutes is accomplished,

and otherwise bringing their services and facilities into compliance.

3. That this Court award compensatory damages to plaintiffs.

4. That this Court award reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

5. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper

and equitable.
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JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs demand a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.
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Dated: July 14, 2009

Respectfully submitted,

/s Kevin W. Williams                     
Kevin W. Williams
 Legal Program Director
Carrie Ann Lucas
 Director, Center for the Rights of Parents with Disabilities
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
Voice: 303.839.1775
TTY: 303.839.0015
Facsimile: 303.839.1782
E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org
E-mail: clucas@ccdconline.org

Address of plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition

655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203

Address of plaintiffs Robin Bolduc, Bruce Goguen and Brady Goguen

1546 Bradley Drive
Boulder, Colorado 80303
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